RECEIVED

Nov 29 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

The Honorable Bentley D. Price

Appellate Court Case No. 2022-000300
Circuit Court Case No. 2021-CP-07-01241 and
Circuit Court Case No. 2021-CP-07-01231

Historic Beaufort Foundation, Appellant,
v.
City of Beaufort, City of Beaufort Historic District Review Board,
and The Beaufort Inn, LLC, Respondents.

AND

West Street Farms, LLC and Mix Farms, LLC, Appellants,
v.
City of Beaufort, City of Beaufort Historic District Review Board,
and The Beaufort Inn, LLC, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The issues on appeal are (1) whether the Circuit Court erred in denying the appeal of the June 9, 2021 City of Beaufort Historic Review Board (“HRB”) decision and the order denying Appellants’ motion to reconsider on February 11, 2022, as the Board’s decision was based on numerous legal errors, and (2) whether the Circuit Court erred in denying the appeal as the Board based its decision on findings of fact that are not supported by the evidence in the record.

1. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE HRB DECISION TO ISSUE A CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS FOR THE HOTEL WHEN THE HOTEL’S PRELIMINARY APPROVAL HAD EXPIRED BY THE TERMS OF BOTH THE UDO AND THE BEAUFORT CODE?
2. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE HRB DECISION TO ISSUE A CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS FOR THE PARKING GARAGE WHEN THE PARKING GARAGE’S PRELIMINARY APPROVAL HAD EXPIRED BY THE TERMS OF BOTH THE UDO AND THE BEAUFORT CODE?
3. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE HRB DECISION REGARDING THE PARKING GARAGE WHEN THE CITY HAD NEVER ISSUED A CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS FOR THE PARKING GARAGE?
4. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE HRB DECISION WHEN THE BEAUFORT CODE’S REGULATION REGARDING LARGE FOOTPRINT BUILDINGS APPLIED TO THE HOTEL AND PARKING GARAGE STRUCTURES AND NEITHER HAD OBTAINED A SPECIAL EXCEPTION FROM THE ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS?
5. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE DECISIONS OF THE HRB WHEN THE BOARD MADE NO SUBSTANTIVE FINDINGS REGARDING THE HOTEL OR PARKING GARAGE’S COMPATIBILITY, LACK OF ADVERSE IMPACT, AND CONSISTENCY WITH ADOPTED PLANS IN THE NATIONAL HISTORIC LANDMARK DISTRICT?
6. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLANTS’ CHALLENGES TO DECISIONS MADE DURING THE CONCEPTUAL AND PRELIMINARY APPROVALS WERE NOT TIMELY?
7. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE APPEAL IS BARRED BY LACHES, ESTOPPEL OR WAIVER?
8. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE DEVELOPER HAD A

VESTED RIGHT TO DEVELOP AND CONTINUE THE PROJECTS?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a consolidated appeal of the HRB's approval of two projects in the Town of Beaufort's National Historic Landmark District: (1) 812 Port Republic Street and 212 Scott Street, identified as R120, Tax Map 4, Parcel 984, for the construction of a 77-unit hotel building, with retail/commercial space on the ground floor and accommodations on the upper floors, including a rooftop bar and restaurant ("Hotel"); and (2) 918 Craven Street for the construction of a parking garage ("Parking Garage").

Background

Appellant Historic Beaufort Foundation ("HBF") is a nonprofit corporation organized in 1965 and existing pursuant to the laws of the State of South Carolina with its principal place of business located at 208 Scotts Street in Beaufort South Carolina. (R. p. 789). HBF owns the John Mark Verdier House (the "Verdier House") located at 801 Bay Street and operates it as a museum open to the public. (Id.). The Verdier House is in the immediate vicinity of the property located at 812 Port Republic Street which is owned by Respondent Beaufort Inn, LLC, separated by less than one hundred (100) feet of real estate and two small, one-story buildings. (Id.).

Appellant West Street Farms, LLC ("West Street") owns 205, 207, 209, and 221 West Street which are immediately adjacent to and on the west side of the Hotel project. Appellant Mix Farms, LLC ("Mix Farms") owns 211 Scott Street, immediately adjacent to and on the east side of the Hotel project. All these properties are in the historic district of Beaufort. (R. p. 777). West Street and Mix Farms appeared and objected to the applications at the June 9, 2021, hearing, and a letter from their counsel detailing the basis of the objections was submitted as part of the record for both applications. (Id.).

Respondent City of Beaufort, South Carolina (the “City”) is a municipal corporation as defined in S.C. Code Ann. § 5-1-20 and body politic created by and subject to the laws of the State of South Carolina. (R. pp. 044-045 – pp. 056-057). Respondent City of Beaufort Historic District Review Board (the “Board” or “HRB”) is a five-member Board of architectural review appointed by the members of Beaufort City Council pursuant to Section 10.7 of The Beaufort Code Section in accordance with the authority granted by S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-870. (Id.). According to the City’s website, the Board’s mission is “to aid in the preservation, protection and enhancement of the Beaufort National Historic Landmark District.” (R. p. 790).

Respondent Beaufort Inn LLC (the “LLC”) is a limited liability company organized and existing pursuant to the laws of the State of Georgia that is authorized to do business and does business in Beaufort County, South Carolina. (R. p. 045 – p. 057). Upon information and belief, the LLC owns the two parcels located in the City of Beaufort that are the subject of this Petition and Notice of Appeal: 812 Port Republic Street (Property Identification No. 120-004-000-0984); and 918 Craven Street (Property Identification No. 121-004-000-0850-0000). (R. p. 045).

The current ordinance in the City of Beaufort that governs development and building approvals is The Beaufort Code, which was adopted effective June 27, 2017, and was updated on July 10, 2018. (R. p. 791 – p. 777). The Beaufort Code repealed and replaced the Unified Development Ordinance (“UDO”) which governed development and building prior to that date. (Id.). Under the UDO, Section 3.1 (M)(3)(c) specifically outlines expiration dates for City approvals: conceptual and preliminary approvals expire after 18 months and cannot be renewed beyond 18 months. Likewise, under The Beaufort Code, a conceptual or preliminary approval is valid only for eighteen months. (Id.).

The Parking Garage

There are three levels of approval required to achieve a Certificate of Appropriateness: Conceptual, Preliminary, and Final. On August 17, 2016, the Board granted conceptual approval with conditions for the Parking Garage. (R. p. 047). On July 12, 2017, the Board approved a motion for the Parking Garage to undergo significant revision and come back to the Board with a simpler design. (Id. at p. 661). By July 2017, The Beaufort Code had already been approved and was in effect. On September 20, 2017, the Board gave preliminary approval for the Parking Garage plan with various conditions. (Id. at p. 559). The then current drawings were approved as submitted, and the Applicant was tasked with refining the design details to receive final approval. (Id.). Lauren Kelly, acting for the City, described that preliminary approval in a letter dated October 9, 2017, referencing September 20, 2017, HRB meeting. (Id. at p. 561).

Under either the UDO or The Beaufort Code, preliminary approval for the Parking Garage expired on March 20, 2019, 18 months after the September 20, 2017, preliminary approval date. David Prichard, on behalf of the City, in two letters dated June 21, 2019, and July 1, 2020, erroneously issued an extension of a “Certificate of Appropriateness” for the Parking Garage that had never been issued and did not exist. (R. pp. 676-677). The Parking Garage never received a “Certificate of Appropriateness” from the Board, a requirement under both the UDO and The Beaufort Code. Under either ordinance, a Certificate of Appropriateness could only be issued after final approval, which the Parking Garage never achieved. Also, in those two letters, David Prichard referenced The Beaufort Code section 9.1.4 as the governing code. Mr. Prichard did not reference the UDO. (Id.).

The Hotel

The Hotel was originally presented for review and approval to the HRB on September 14, 2016. At this time, HRB staff advised the LLC to revise its plans, including the elevation of the

Hotel, based on staff and board comments and return to the HRB for another conceptual review. The LLC made its new submission of the project to the City in 2017. The Beaufort Code was adopted on June 27, 2017 and replaced the UDO as of that date. Lauren Kelly, representing the City, originally presented the Hotel project in a July 12, 2017, HRB meeting, approximately two weeks after the Beaufort Code was adopted. The approved official July 12, 2017, minutes quote Lauren Kelly saying, “this project (the Hotel) is being evaluated under the new Beaufort Code,” confirming that the Hotel was considered under the Beaufort Code, and not the UDO. (R. p. 661). (The July 12, 2017 Meeting Minutes included in the Record on Appeal to the Circuit Court at p. 200 are incomplete. Counsel for Respondents have consented to Appellants’ request to supplement the record pursuant to SCACR 212(b) in order to include in the record a complete copy of the July 12, 2017 Meeting Minutes).

During this July 12, 2017, meeting, the HRB granted the Hotel preliminary approval. (Id. at p. 666). According to the Beaufort Code, such preliminary approval expired on January 12, 2019, i.e., 18 months after the HRB issued such preliminary approval. The Applicant’s next request for approval for the Hotel, however, was almost 27 months later, on October 9, 2019, for a “Certificate of Appropriateness.” Notably, the “Certificate of Appropriateness,” dated October 9, 2019, and signed by John Dickerson, the then chairman of the Board, specifically referenced the Beaufort Code and its Section 9.4.1 as the governing authority. It did not reference the UDO at all. (R. p. 047).

On June 9, 2021, the LLC appeared before the Board seeking two approvals: (a) Agenda Item No. IV(C) 812 Port Republic Street: Change after Certification for the Hotel, and (b) Agenda Item No. IV(D) 918 Craven Street, New Construction for the Parking Garage. (R. p. 160 – p. 245). The Board approved these plans on June 9, 2021. (Id. at pp. 244-245 – pp. 307-308).

Large Footprint Buildings

As approved by the Board, the Parking Garage is 4 levels tall with a front facade of approximately 300 linear feet, square footage of approximately 160,000 square feet, volumetric mass approaching 3 million cubic feet, and room for over 475 vehicles. (R. pp. 794-795 – p. 784). The Hotel has a fourth-story roof-top bar, a front façade of approximately 170 linear feet, square footage of approximately 50,000, and volumetric mass of approximately 1 million cubic feet. (Id.).

Each of these structures individually are multiple times larger across all dimensions and metrics than any other building in historic downtown Beaufort. (R. p. 795). As a point of comparison, the Verdier House is approximately 5,500 square feet and has volumetric mass of 50,000 cubic feet. (Id.). The Parking Garage is 60 times larger, and the Hotel is 20 times larger in volumetric mass than the Verdier House. (Id.).

The Hotel and the Parking Garage are in the Downtown Core District (T5-DC) zoning district under the Beaufort Code. (R. p. 779). In the T5-DC transect zoning district, buildings are restricted to 100 feet building width at the frontage. Beaufort Code Sec. 2.4.1(D)(3). Buildings that exceed 100 feet building width must comply with the Large Footprint Building standards in Beaufort Code Sec. 4.5.10. Beaufort Code Sec. 2.4.1(D)(3), footnote 9. The Beaufort Code defines Large Footprint Buildings as “a type often used by big-box, national retailers. In the T4 and T5 transect zones, they shall be integrated into the streetscape or screened with Liner Buildings (see Section 4.5.9).” Beaufort Code Sec. 4.5.10(A). Large Footprint Buildings have various specific development requirements under Beaufort Code Sec. 4.5.10 (B)(1)-(7). One preliminary and fundamental requirement for Large Footprint Buildings is that in the Historic District, except along Boundary Street, Large Footprint Buildings “are permitted by Special Exception only.” Beaufort Code Sec. 4.5.10 (B)(5).

The Hotel and the Parking Garage Project are located within the Beaufort Historic District (HD) Overlay as defined by Beaufort Code Sec. 2.7.1 and as shown on the official Zoning Map of the City of Beaufort. (R. p. 780). Special Exceptions to the Beaufort Code may only be granted by the City of Beaufort Zoning Board of Appeals (“ZBOA”) Beaufort Code Sec. 10.3.1(C)(3). The ZBOA has not considered or issued Special Exceptions for either the Hotel Project or the Parking Garage.

The Hotel as currently submitted has a 179-foot building width and, as such, must follow the Beaufort Code requirements for Large Footprint Buildings as specified in Sec. 4.5.10. (Id.). The Hotel Project has not applied for or received a Special Exception by the ZBOA. When the applications for preliminary approval of the Hotel were presented to the Board in 2017, neither the City staff members nor the Applicant’s agents presenting these plans for approval made the members of the Board aware that these projects as planned were Large Footprint Buildings or of the requirement for Special Exception approval by the ZBOA of Large Footprint Buildings before further planning approval could be obtained. In fact, the Board was told at the 2017 meeting when that version of the Hotel Project was presented that “no zoning issues existed.” (Id. at 5-6).

Like the Hotel, the Parking Garage is also a Large Footprint Building, having a frontage of 300 feet. Like the Hotel, the LLC has not sought or received a Special Exception from the ZBOA.

Appeal to the Circuit Court

After the Board’s June 9, 2021, decision, HBF and West Street/Mix Farms both timely appealed the decision to the Circuit Court pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-900 and The Beaufort Code Section 9.10. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-900(A) “[a] person who may have a substantial interest in any decision of the board of architectural review or any officer, or agent of the appropriate governing authority may appeal from any decision of the board to the circuit

court...” S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-900(A). Section 9.10.2(I) similarly provides that “[a]ny party aggrieved by the decisions of the HRB may appeal to the circuit court within 30 days of the decision.

A hearing was held on January 6, 2022, at the Beaufort County Court of Common Pleas. On January 20, 2022, the Honorable Bentley D. Price issued an order denying the appeals of HBF and West Street/Mix Farms. (R. p. 649). The Appellants jointly filed a motion to reconsider on January 28, 2022, which was denied on February 11, 2022. HBF and West Street/Mix Farms each filed a notice of appeal of the Circuit Court decisions to the Court of Appeals on March 11, 2022. The appeals were consolidated by the Court of Appeals and the parties were informed of that by a letter from the Deputy Clerk of Court dated March 24, 2022.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court of Appeals’ standard of review of a board of architectural review’s decision is the same as that of the trial court. *Fairfield Ocean Ridge, Inc. v. Town of Edisto Beach*, 294 S.C. 475, 479–80, 366 S.E.2d 15, 18 (Ct.App.1988) (holding the appellate court will not reverse the circuit court’s affirmance of the board unless the board’s findings of fact have no evidentiary support, or the board commits an error of law).

In reviewing a decision by a board of architectural review, the circuit court should act when the board abuses its discretion by committing errors of law or bases its decision on findings of fact that are not supported by the evidence. *Blind Tiger, LLC v. City of Charleston*, 366 S.C. 182, 185, 621 S.E.2d 361, 362 (Ct. App. 2005) (citing *Gurganiou v. City of Beaufort*, 317 S.C. 481, 486, 454 S.E.2d 912, 915 (Ct.App.1995)).

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE APPEAL AS THE APPROVALS BY THE BOARD ARE INVALID DUE TO NUMEROUS LEGAL

ERRORS

A. The Board erred in granting final approval under the UDO because any prior approvals had expired by the terms of the ordinance.

At the outset of the hearing on June 9, 2021 on the Hotel application, the Chair announced that the application would be considered under the Unified Development Ordinance (“UDO”). That announcement was surprising. The Beaufort Code was adopted on June 27, 2017 and replaced the UDO as of that date. The Hotel Project was originally presented in a September 2016, Board meeting, before The Beaufort Code was adopted. The September 14, 2016, minutes failed to record a vote; however, the July 12, 2017, minutes indicate that Preliminary Approval was granted in September 2016.

The official July 12, 2017, minutes indicate that the Hotel “is being evaluated under the new Beaufort Code,” confirming that the Hotel was considered under The Beaufort Code and not the UDO. During the July 12, 2017, meeting, the minutes failed to record whether the approval was Conceptual or Preliminary. However, on July 25, 2017, a letter was issued to the applicant Goff D'Antonio Associates for the LLC, from the City and signed by Lauren Kelly, stating that the Board granted preliminary approval with conditions at the July 12, 2017 meeting for two submissions: one with, and one without, the colonnade. These minutes also state that “the approval expires 12 months from the date of the letter (July 25, 2017) unless the applicant has an active submittal pending review by staff and/or HRB. Under the UDO, specifically item 3.1.M.3c, conceptual and preliminary approvals expire after 18 months and cannot be renewed beyond 18 months. Under table 9.1.4 of The Beaufort Code any approval under that ordinance expired 24 months thereafter. However, the next approval for the Hotel was not issued until nearly 27 months later, on October 9, 2019, when the owner was issued a “Certificate of Appropriateness.” Therefore, the Hotel’s preliminary approval expired under the terms of the ordinance prior to the

alleged approval of the Hotel's "Certificate of Appropriateness."

It is telling that the "Certificate of Appropriateness," dated October 9, 2019, and signed by the chairman of the Board confirms that the Hotel was evaluated under The Beaufort Code. The Certificate of Appropriateness specifically referenced Section 9.4.1 of The Beaufort Code. It did not reference the UDO.

Since the Hotel had no valid preliminary approval under either the UDO or The Beaufort Code on June 9, 2021, and it was legal error for the Board to consider the application for final approval as a necessary legal prerequisite had not been satisfied.

B. Any approval of the Parking Garage under the UDO expired before June 9, 2021

The approval of the Parking Garage suffers from a similar legal infirmity. Any application that the Board had previously granted the Hotel was granted under The Beaufort Code, not the UDO, and that approval had expired by the terms of the ordinance.

There are three levels of approval required to achieve a Certificate of Appropriateness: Conceptual, Preliminary, and Final. On August 17, 2016, the Board granted conceptual approval with conditions for the Parking Garage. Assuming, without conceding, that the Garage was conceptually approved under the UDO, the Parking Garage received preliminary approval from the City as evidenced by a letter written by Lauren Kelley, former project development planner for City of Beaufort dated October 9, 2017, which referenced a September 20, 2017 Board meeting. A copy of that letter was included in the application for the June 9 meeting at page 195. The approved official July 12, 2017 minutes quote Lauren Kelly saying, "this project (the Hotel) is being evaluated under the new Beaufort Code," confirming that the Hotel is being considered under the Beaufort Code and not the UDO. This is also noted in a letter from David Prichard dated July 1, 2020, granting extension of the COA for the Parking Garage and referencing the September

20, 2017 preliminary approval with conditions, which as of the date of the letter, had not yet been addressed.

The preliminary approval for the Parking Garage was granted on September 20, 2017, after the UDO was repealed and replaced by The Beaufort Code. Under the terms of the UDO and the Beaufort Code that approval expired on March 20, 2019, i.e., 18 months after the issuing of the preliminary approval and could not be renewed. Consequently, the Parking Garage application was not eligible for consideration of final approval at the June 9, 2021, hearing, because the preliminary approval for the Garage expired over two years before the Board heard the final approval application.

Like the Hotel, the Parking Garage also had no approval under either the UDO or the Beaufort Code on June 9, 2021, and it was clear legal error for the Board to proceed on the application.

C. The Board never issued a Certificate of Appropriateness for the Parking Garage

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