THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Nov 14 2022

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC Court of Appeals

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000300

Historic Beaufort Foundation, Appellant,

v.

City of Beaufort, City of Beaufort Historic District Review Board,
and The Beaufort Inn, LLC, Respondents,

AND

West Street Farms, LLC and Mix Farms, LLC, Appellants,

v.

City of Beaufort, City of Beaufort Historic District Review Board,
and the Beaufort Inn, LLC Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Benjamin E. Nicholson, V
(S.C. Bar No. 10137)
Glenn Wade Leach, III
(S.C. Bar No. 104841)
BURR & FORMAN, LLP

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

¹² As noted, the only item at the June 9, 2021 HRB meeting that Petitioners timely challenged with respect to the Hotel Project was the change to the rooftop design. The Circuit Court found that there was sufficient evidence in the Record to support the HRB’s approval of the Change after Certification. (R. 033-034) Order, pp. 13-14. The Appellants failed to challenge this finding. Therefore, it is the law of the case. *Carolina Chloride, Inc. v. Richland Cnty.*, 394 S.C. 154, 714 S.E.2d 869 (2011).

disposes of any argument by Petitioners that extensions should not have been granted. As stated by the Circuit Court:

The only issues that can be subject to any appeal by Petitioner are those matters before the HRB for the first time at the June 9, 2021 meeting and were additional design changes required by the HRB after preliminary approval of the Change after Certification request of Beaufort Inn. That included the proposed roof deck that was contested at the June 9, 2021 HRB hearing. As noted, the only matter at issue in the HRB June 9, 2021 hearing was final approval of the design changes to the roof and other parts of the Hotel Project, but Petitioner only challenges the roof design changes from that hearing—something that the HRB had already granted preliminary approval for at its February 10, 2021 hearing. Therefore, all of Petitioner’s Appeal with respect to the Hotel Project is time barred.

(R. 033) Order, p. 13. This defeats any arguments made by Appellants in their Issue Nos. 1, 5 and 6 specifically.

B. The Parking Garage Project

The Circuit Court also expressly rejected the contention that the Parking Garage Project did not have proper extensions in its Order as follows:

Petitioner only advance two arguments with respect only to the Parking Garage Project. First, it argues that the time period for a final approval by the HRB had run, and so final approval should not have been granted. Second, it disagrees with the HRB’s decision almost entirely on matters that were conclusively established at the conceptual and preliminary approval stages—that is the scale, size, height and mass of Parking Garage Project.

1. There was no error in the HRB accepting the extensions.

Petitioner argues that the prior approvals granted to Beaufort Inn for the Parking Garage Project expired before the June 9, 2021 HRB meeting, and thus the application for final approval was not properly before the HRB. Petitioner asserts that the UDO did not allow for an extension totaling more than 18 months, and there was more than an 18 month gap between the preliminary approval of the HRB on September 20, 2019 and the June 9, 2021 HRB meeting. Petitioner claims that the approvals granted previously on the Parking Garage Project had thus expired, and so Beaufort Inn was required to start the Parking Garage Project approval process again.

However, the City granted two extensions to Beaufort Inn, one by letter of June 21, 2019 and one by letter of July 1, 2020, pursuant to § 9.1.4 of the Beaufort Code, which allows up to five one-year extensions. There are no time limitations on extensions for

conceptual, preliminary, or final approvals for COAs other than those stated in § 9.1.4. See B.C. § 9.1.9.C. Thus, the City was within its discretion to provide such extensions, and such extensions were accepted by the HRB in its discretion. See *Gurganious v. City of Beaufort*, 454 S.E.2d at 916

Petitioner cites to § 1.4.2 (B) of the Beaufort Code stating that the City Defendants and Beaufort Inn were required to follow the UDO time limits on extensions. However, that is not what § 1.4.2(B) requires. This section does not address extensions of the application process other than to say the City “shall review and decide the application in good faith and in accordance with any time frame established by the prior standards.” This language clearly requires the City not to use the crossover of applicable codes to delay a project; otherwise, there would be no need to reference a “good faith” requirement.

Clearly the HRB did not construe § 1.4.2 (B) to bar final approval of the Parking Garage Project. Given the many interrelated acts by the City requiring approvals on this Project at various stages, as well as interconnected approvals needed for existing structure demolition and relocation, it would be inequitable and patently unfair for the HRB to give Beaufort Inn written extensions and then have this Court vacate those extensions. Further, as noted, Beaufort Inn has constitutionally protected vested rights in the two projects; the change in the ordinance cannot in any way impair those vested rights. *Boehm v. Town of Sullivan’s Island Board of Zoning Appeal, supra*. The application of timelines in the UDO that do not exist or are no longer in the ordinance clearly would impair such rights. Simply put, § 1.4.2 (B) cannot be construed to make a project *harder* to develop simply because of a crossover of codes. That would not be the “good faith” required of the City.

Further, Petitioner ignores B.C. § 1.4.4.A: “Other Approved Development Permits and Approvals.” Section 1.4.4.A provides:

Any other development that has received approval of a development permit or approval of a portion of a development—including any required Traffic Impact Analysis and/or Archaeology Survey—before the effective date of this chapter or any amendments thereof **may** be carried out in accordance with the terms and conditions of the development permit or approval and the procedures and standards in effect at the time of the approval, provided the permit or approval does not expire and otherwise remains valid. If significant changes are made to the development, associated studies and surveys required as part of the development process shall be redone. If the development permit or approval expires, is revoked (e.g., for failure to comply with time limits or terms and conditions), or otherwise becomes invalid, any subsequent development of the site shall be subject to the procedures and standards of this Code.

(Emphasis added.) In statutory construction, the use of the word “may” means the action is permissive. *State v. Wilson*, 274 S.C. 352, 356, 264 S.E.2d 414, 416 (1980)(“The use of the word ‘may’ signifies permission and generally means that the action spoken of is

optional or discretionary.”); *Cricket Store 17, LLC v. City of Columbia Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 428 S.C. 270, 276, 834 S.E.2d 209, 212 (Ct. App. 2019).

B.C. § 1.4.4.A clearly gives the HRB the *discretion* to apply the UDO or the Code with respect to timelines it applied to the Parking Garage Project. Thus, the HRB staff was free to apply the Beaufort Code timelines per this section of the Code, and was not required to follow the UDO. There was no error in the HRB allowing the extensions to stand and the Parking Project to move to final approval.

(R. 034-037) Order, pp. 14-17. In footnote 8, the Circuit Court also noted:

To the extent that B.C. § 1.4.4.A may be interpreted to conflict with § 1.4.2 (B), the interpretation of the HRB giving precedence to § 1.4.4.A must be given great weight. “We give great deference to the decisions of those charged with interpreting and applying local zoning ordinances.” *Gurganious v. City of Beaufort*, 317 S.C. 481, 487, 454 S.E.2d 912, 916 (Ct. App. 1995). “The Board[s] ... construction of its own ordinance, the enforcement of which it is charged with, should be given some consideration and not overruled without cogent reason therefor.” *Boehm v. Town of Sullivan's Island Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 423 S.C. 169, 184, 813 S.E.2d 874, 881 (Ct. App. 2018), quoting *Purdy v. Moise*, 223 S.C. 298, 304-05, 75 S.E.2d 605, 608 (1953).

(R. 036-037) Order, p. 16, n. 8.

Petitioners quibble with the characterization of extensions by City staff, arguing that staff issued extensions for COAs that did not exist. Additionally, Petitioners also argue City staff erred in their interpretations of the applicable ordinance bind the City and HRB. However, staff comments and characterizations do not bind the City or HRB. Only the HRB itself, not its staff, has the authority to decide if approvals are proper. The HRB obviously determined that extensions (no matter what they were called) were properly given as the HRB proceeded with the approvals. There was evidence in the Record to support the HRB’s decision. Clearly both the City and Beaufort Inn understood that the extensions were more generally for the Projects and part of the ongoing cooperation between Beaufort Inn and the City in furtherance of Beaufort Inn’s vested rights.

C. Beaufort Inn’s Vested Rights Defeat Petitioners’ Procedural Arguments.

1. The Vested Rights Act did Not Preempt Common Law Vesting of Rights.

Both Beaufort Inn and the City agree that Beaufort Inn has vested rights in the Parking Garage Project and the Hotel Project as stated *supra*. The vested rights argument eviscerates the Petitioners’ claims of procedural defects in the HRB process as once Beaufort Inn was vested in the approvals given by the City, such vested rights could not be taken away by the City unilaterally. The Circuit Court concurred.

However, Petitioners in their Eighth Issue on Appeal claim that Beaufort Inn could have no rights vested in the Projects unless Beaufort Inn and the City had a special agreement pursuant to Vested Rights Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1510, *et. seq.* (“VRA”). There was no such agreement pursuant to the VRA.

The Circuit Court expressly rejected this argument:

Vested rights under zoning ordinances are undergirded by the same constitutional footing which precludes retroactive application of zoning ordinances.” *Friarsgate, Inc. v. Town of Irmo*, 290 S.C. 266, 269, 349 S.E.2d 891, 893 (Ct. App. 1986). However, Petitioner argues that Beaufort Inn may not claim a vested right, even though the City Defendants concede it has vested rights in the application of the UDO to the project, because Beaufort Inn has failed to comply with the Vested Rights Act, S.C. Code § 6-29-1510, *et. seq.* (“VRA”), and therefore it obtained no vested rights. This is incorrect for several reasons. First, the VRA nowhere states that it is the exclusive method of establishing vested rights by a property owner in South Carolina. It is well settled in South Carolina that a statutory scheme creating a remedy of some type is not deemed to create an exclusive remedy unless the statute expressly so provides. *See e.g., Tilley v. Pacesetter Corp.*, 333 S.C. 33, 40–41, 508 S.E.2d 16, 20 (1998)(creation of specific remedy by statute did not mean it was the sole one at law); *Pinckney v. Pettijohn Builders, Inc.*, 289 S.C. 405, 407, 346 S.E.2d 533, 534 (Ct. App. 1986)(Collection of Rent by Distraint Statute not exclusive remedy); and *Wimberly v. Barr*, 359 S.C. 414, 419, 597 S.E.2d 853, 856 (Ct. App. 2004)(timber cutting statute not the exclusive remedy). Conversely, where the legislature intends a statute to create an exclusive remedy, it has expressly said so. *See e.g., Dickert v. Metro. Life Ins. Co.*, 311 S.C. 218, 220, 428 S.E.2d 700, 701 (1993)(workers compensation is exclusive remedy); *Wimberly v. Barr*, 597 S.E.2d at 857 (S. C. Tort Claims Act is exclusive remedy.) North Carolina, with its similar vested rights act, has recognized that its vested rights act is not meant to be the sole method of establishing vested rights, and that the traditional framework of substantial reliance on municipal actions is still an avenue of relief for

property owners. *Simpson v. City of Charlotte*, 115 N.C. App. 51, 56, 443 S.E.2d 772, 776 (1994). The same reasoning applies here; the South Carolina Supreme Court has recognized “the purpose of the Act was to protect, preserve, and create vested rights in development permits.” *Grays Hill Baptist Church v. Beaufort Cty.*, 431 S.C. 630, 640, 850 S.E.2d 29, 34 (2020). Limiting the ability of a property owner to acquire vested rights to those under a statutory scheme is anathema to the purpose for the VRA. The VRA merely provides another vehicle by which a property owner and developer can achieve some certainly in the development process—but it is not the only method.

(R. 032) Order, p. 12, fn. 7

The Circuit Court clearly explained why it rejected Petitioners’ argument that Beaufort Inn was required to follow the VRA and did not do so. However, Petitioners fail to challenge the Circuit Court’s reasoning.¹³ Petitioners have not made any argument why the Circuit Court’s Order was incorrect in its holding. Petitioners only make a half-page, conclusory argument that the VRA applies and they do not even state *why* the VRA should be the exclusive method for assertion of vested rights. Therefore, that issue must be determined to be abandoned on appeal. *Jinks v. Richland Cnty.*, 355 S.C. 341, 585 S.E.2d 281 (2003).

The reasoning behind this abandonment rule is sound. All issues and arguments must be made in the Initial Brief. SCACR 211(b). If Petitioners for the first time argue why the Circuit Court was wrong in its rejection of the VRA in their Reply, Respondents will have been precluded from making arguments in support of the Court’s holding. Because of this, an appellant may not make new arguments in its Reply Brief as a method to circumvent SCACR 211(b). *Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 557 S.E.2d 689 (Ct. App. 2001).

¹³ Nor did Petitioners contest the Circuit Court’s logic in the Order in any filing before the Circuit Court, including their Motions to Reconsider. (R 811--812). It is axiomatic that a litigant is required to raise an issue fairly to the trial court, thereby giving the trial court an opportunity to rule on the issue. *State v. Brannon*, 388 S.C. 498, 502, 697 S.E.2d 593, 595–96 (2010).

Thus, Petitioners have abandoned any argument contesting the Court’s holding and should not be allowed to proceed further on this issue. Given that Beaufort Inn’s approval rights in the Projects are vested as the law of the case, Petitioners’ procedural arguments are moot.

2. If Petitioners Lose Their Vested Rights Act Exclusivity Argument, the Law of the Case is that Beaufort Inn had Vested Rights.

If Petitioners lose their VRA exclusivity argument, Petitioners nowhere else contest the Circuit Court’s determination that Beaufort Inn’s rights in the two Projects are vested under South Carolina law. Thus, the Circuit Court’s holdings that Beaufort Inn was vested in the Projects moots any argument by Petitioners that procedural steps were not properly followed. Specifically, the Petitioners nowhere challenged the Circuit Court’s holdings in several places that Beaufort Inn had vested rights:

- “The Court agrees with the position of the City Defendants and Beaufort Inn in this Appeal that the Hotel Project and the Parking Garage Project are on these facts vested with respect to the approvals given.” (R. 031) Order, page 11.
- “Thus, even if it wanted to, the HRB cannot revisit and revoke its prior approvals given to Beaufort Inn, as Beaufort Inn has vested rights in the application of the UDO and those approvals.” (R. 032) Order, page 12.
- “Further, as noted, Beaufort Inn has constitutionally protected vested rights in the two projects; the change in the ordinance cannot in any way impair those vested rights.” (R. 035) Order, page 15.
- “Since the Hotel Project and the Parking Garage Project are grandfathered or otherwise vested under the UDO, the newer Beaufort Code Large Footprint Building requirement does not apply.” (R. 038) Order, page 18.

The failure of Petitioners to challenge these findings of the Circuit Court binds them to these findings as the law of the case (as long as they do not prevail on their Eighth Issue on Appeal.) It is fundamental that an appellate court should affirm a lower court’s ruling if the appealing party does not challenge that ruling. *Biales v. Young*, 315 S.C. 166, 432 S.E.2d 482 (1993). The failure to challenge is considered an abandonment on the issue on appeal. *Id.* It does not matter if the

ruling is right or wrong, if not appealed, it nonetheless becomes the law of the case. *Carolina Chloride, Inc. v. Richland Cnty.*, 394 S.C. 154, 714 S.E.2d 869 (2011). If a court’s decision can be upheld on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become law of the case. *Anderson v. Short*, 323 S.C. 522, 476 S.E.2d 475 (1996).

The failure of the Petitioners to challenge these holdings means the vested rights in the approvals of the Projects are the law of the case, which effectively disposes of any argument Petitioners make on procedural deficiencies in the approval process for the Projects.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT AND HRB PROPERLY REJECTED PETITIONERS’ CLAIM THAT THE PROJECTS REQUIRED PRIOR ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS APPROVAL BEFORE THE HRB ACTED ON THE PROJECTS.

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